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(collectively, “Defendants”) to dismiss all chas in Plaintiff Sean Vincent's First Amended
Complaint under Federal Rule ofW@iProcedure 12(b)(6). (Doc. 52.Plaintiff brings
numerous claims against Defendants under &£@J.8 1983 related to four arrests made in
connection with his partigation in the Occupy Wall Street (“OWS”) moveménthe claims
against Winski allege his failure to intervene in oféhe four arrests. Plaintiff also alleges that
the Municipal Defendants are liable for all claims undenell v. Department of Social
Services436 U.S. 658 (1978). For the followingasons, Defendants’ motion to dismiss is
GRANTED IN PART and DENIED IN PART.

I. Backaround?®

The arrests and court cases that form thsésha this action occurred during the early
stages of the OWS movement, andevlaintiff's first arrests. JeeAm. Compl. 1 2—4%
Although Plaintiff was also arrested two othends during this same time period, on September
24, 2011 and October 1, 2018e€Compl. 1 4), Plaintiff's amended claims specifically relate to
four arrests made while he gvparticipating in OWS protest activities on October 15, 2011,
October 26, 2011, November 8, 2011, and Novem2f7, 2011, (Am. Compl. 1 5). Plaintiff

claims that subsequent tesharrests, he made at lefifeen court appearances].(f 61);

L After Defendants moved to dismiss under Rule 12J@@8l Rule 12(c), Plaintiff filed the First Amended
Complaint. SeeDoc. 66, “Amended Complaint”.) Defendants have not yet filed an answer to the Amended
Complaint. As a result, because motions brought pursuant to Rule 12(c) can onlg te]ftler the pleadings are
closed,” | only address Defendants’ Rule 12(b)(6) motiBae Scott v. AbgtBlo. CV-93-4589 (CPS), 1995 WL
591306, at *3 n.2 (E.D.N.Y. Sept. 27, 1995).

2 The caption also names various “John Doe” Police Officers, and vaRaard Roe” supervising Police
Officers, but there are no substantive allegationsaimsl against these purported defendants in the Amended
Complaint.

3 The following factual summary is drawn from documentwioich | take judicial noticePlaintiff's video, and the
allegations of the Amended Complaint, which | assuo be true for purposes of this motisee Swierkiewicz v.
Sorema N.A534 U.S. 506, 508 n.1 (2002). My references to these allegations should not heedasst finding
as to their veracity, and | make no such findings.

4“Am. Compl.” refers to the Amended Cominig filed June 1, 2016. (Doc. 66.)
5 “Compl.” refers to the Complainfijed September 24, 2014. (Doc. 1.)
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however, he does not attribute &sifiic number of court appearaisd® any particular arrest.

Plaintiff participated in otheprotest marches during the GB/Movement and was part of
the protest encampment in Zuccotti Parkngen September 17, 2011 and November 15, 2011.
(See idqY 28-29.) Plaintiff gae interviews to the media regarding OW8, { 56), and, upon
information and belief, alleges that his pbgriaph was disseminated by the New York City
Police Department (“NYPD”) because he was deemed a leader of @MB57).

A. The Arrests
1. TheOctober 15, 2011 Arrest

Defendant Curley arrested Plaintiff \wtut a warrant on October 15, 2011 during an
OWS protest march on Sixth Avenue near West 37th Street](59-60, 62.) Plaintiff had
been marching as part of a larger group fidashington Square Park to Times Squaté. [
63.) Plaintiff “began to act asliaison between the NYPD attte marchers on both the east and
west sidewalks of 6th Avenue.ld( { 65.) As a leader of the march on one side of Sixth
Avenue, Plaintiff spoke with thieader on the other side approxieig three times in order to
keep the march togethend (Y 66.) Unnamed police officerdededly encouraged Plaintiff in
his efforts to keep the marchers together, with officers informingother NYPD officers about
Plaintiff's role in leading the marchld( § 68.) Although Plaintiff wasever told that he should
stop trying to keep the marchers together, he aveested without warning and charged with a
disorderly conduct violation under New NoPenal Law § 240.20(5)—(6), stemming from
obstructing vehicular or pedestni traffic and/or congregatingith other persons in a public
place and refusing to comply with a lawfurder of the police to dispersdd.(11 69—70.) As a
result of his arrest, Plaifitivas unable to participate the Times Square protestd.(] 71.)

Plaintiff also claims that Curley made nummes false statements in the related criminal



complaint, including that Plaintifiad entered the street repeatedlyiolation of a lawful order
and caused public inconvenience, annoyance, anchab pedestrians who were unable to walk
on the sidewalk. I4. 11 72—75.)
2. TheOctober 26, 2011 Arrest

Defendants Waring and McNamara arrestedniff without a warrant on October 26,
2011 during an OWS protest marchReade Street near Broadwayd. (1 59-60, 77-80,
83-84.) Without issuing an ond® disperse and seemindbyr no reason, unidentified NYPD
officers “grabbed Plaintiff, pulled him to the ground, [and] placed Plaintiff's face firmly into the
sidewalk before placing flexicuffs on him.Id(  84.) Plaintiff was threafter charged with
violating New York Penal Law § 195.05, a misdemor charge for obstructing governmental
administration, and 8§ 240.20(5)ld( 87.) Plaintiff claims that in connection withe charges,
Waring and McNamara submitted false statements, Waring in a criminal complaint, and
McNamara in a criminal complaint and supporting depositidoh. Jfl 88—89.) One of the false
statements was that Plaintiff was part of a group of individuals locking iarthe traffic lanes
on the street and blocking trafficld({ 90.)

3. TheNovember 8, 2011 Arrest

Defendant Grodnick arrested Plaintiff hatut a warrant on November 8, 2011 while he
was exiting Zuccotti Park ding the OWS occupation.d; 11 59-60, 94, 98-99.) An NYPD
officer stopped Plaintiff and orded him to return to the Park and stand behind metal barriers
that had been set upld({ 94.) Plaintiff then discoveredatthere had beemreport of a
suspicious package north of Zuccotti Parkl. { 95.) As this was ithe opposite direction of
where Plaintiff had been heading, Pldindisked if he could continue soutiHd.j The NYPD

officer issued the same instruction to Rtdf to move behind the metal barriedd (] 96.)



However, because Plaintiff watready behind the barrier, bsked, “I am already behind the
barrier, what do you want me to dod.(f 97.) Grodnick then gobed Plaintiff and arrested
him, and Plaintiff was charged with vitilag New York Penal Law § 195.05 and § 240.20(6).
(Id. 1 98.) Grodnick arrested Plaintiff basadinformation provided by Defendant Traynor.
(Id. 1 99.) Plaintiff also alleges that Grodnexkd Traynor submitted false information to the
District Attorney’s Office tasupport a criminal complaint,ciuding that Traynor had asked
Plaintiff four times to move from his location Zuccotti Park and Plaintiff refused, that Plaintiff
interfered with an ongag police investigation, arttiat after refusing to ave, Plaintiff stated in
substance, “this is my park.1d¢ 11 100-05.)
4. The November 27, 2011 Arrest

Defendant Manning and a Detective Cabrerzesk detained, and arrested Plaintiff
without a warrant on November 27, 2011 near Zuccotti Padk { 59-60, 112.) Prior to the
arrest, Plaintiff was in or near Zuccotti Pavken he observed Wikis Cabrera, Manning, and
other officers detain anotherdividual on the sidewalk.ld. § 108.) As a sign of camaraderie,
Plaintiff gave the individual aingle pat on the back of the shaer while walking past him.Id.
1 109.) From the video submitted by Plainfifappears that other pedestrians walked around
the officers gathered around theestee, whereas Plaintiff walkbetween the officers and the
arrestee in order to get close enough to pat him on the shouldieEx.(A.) Officers then
instructed Plaintiff to stand a certain distanceaafvom the individual, and Plaintiff complied.
(Id. 1 110.) The individual thenked Plaintiff to locate his wife and inform her that he was
being arrested.Iq. 1 111.) Although difficult tdear in the video, it qgears as if the officers
asked or directed Plaintiff to step backd. Ex. A.) Plaintiff alleges that while he attempted to

hear the wife’s name, Cabrera and Manning begglnysical confrontation with Plaintiff, after



which they arrested him and charged him walistructing governmental administration under
N.Y. Penal Law § 195.05 and resisting arrest under § 20518011(111-12.) Plaintiff alleges
that Manning submitted false statements in his criminal complaint, including that Plaintiff had
repeatedly stepped between the arrestingeffand the other asted individual. Id. § 113.)
Contrary to Manning’s statements, Plaintiff claithat he was approximately fifteen feet away
from the individual being arrestewith at least three officers tweeen him and the individual.
(Id. 7 114.)
B. The Dispositions

According to Plaintiff, the October 2fharge was dismissed on January 30, 2012 by
motion of the Assistant Distii Attorney (“ADA”), and tle October 15, November 8, and
November 27 charges (the “Remaining Chatgyevere all dismissed on October 10, 201l. (
19 76, 93, 107, 118.) On October 10, 2012, Judgen®latA. Sciarrino held a proceeding in the
Criminal Court of the City of New York in ¢éhcriminal docket corresponding to the September
24 charge. $eelucas Supp. Decl. Ex. C.)Plaintiff's current ounsel, Wylie M. Stecklow,
represented him during the criminal proceedirgee(id. At the very outset of the proceeding,
the ADA notified the Court that He parties have reached apdisition. It's a consolidated
docket.” (d. at 2:6-7.) The ADA then olined the plea bargain: Priff would plead guilty to
one count of resisting arresténnection with the Septemt&t charge, and if he remained
arrest-free for six months, would then have ¢iption to re-plead to a disorderly conduct
violation. (d. at 2:10-20.)

After confirming under which docket the plearesisting arrest would be entered and

6 “Lucas Supp. Decl.” refers to the [alemental Declaration of Andrew Lucas in Support of Defendants’ Motion to
Dismiss, filed June 16, 2016. (Doc. 67.)



otherwise confirming the aged-upon sentence, the court tetated that “[tlhe summonses are
dismissed as covered.ld( at 2:1-3, 2:13-25.) The ADA ankwledged by saying “yes judge,”
and after Judge Sciarrino asked Attorney Stecklow if that plea was acceptable, Attorney
Stecklow confirmed that it was acceptablid. &t 2:24-3:3.) After doig so, Attorney Stecklow
stated that “[a]t this point my client authorizee to withdraw his previously entered pleas of
not guilty on the various dockets and that are bewmg consolidated, and enters a plea of guilty
to one count of resisting arrest args out of the 9/24 — set of factsattwas in Union Square
. ... With the understanding that in six monthsnew arrests, he will bable to convert that to
a disorderly conduct, conditional dierge, with time served.”ld. at 3:2-12.) The Court then
turned to Plaintiff and questioned him regardmg)plea of guilty to the September 24 charge
and his understanding of the coperding waiver of his rights.Id. at 3:13-4:3.) At the end of
the proceeding, the Court adjourned the casesfoort, sentencing, and re-pleader on April 9,
2013. (d. at 4:25-5:2.) Finlyy, after confirming with the ADAhat the People were moving to
dismiss the summonses as covered by thetpétavas just taken, the court dismissed those
cases as coveredid(at 5:3-8.) Although the transcriptusclear with resgct to the precise
charges corresponding to the summonses dismissalidat 2:1-3, 5:3-8)the parties concur
that the docket numbers for the dismissed cases eansolidated with the September 24 charge
and were the charges stemming from the OcttbeNovember 8, and November 27 arrests.
(Seelucas Supp. Decl. Ex. B; Defs.” Supp. Mem. 1; Pl.’s Opp. 11, 13-14.)

Ultimately, on April 9, 2013, Plaintiff did plead iify to a disorderly conduct violation in

connection with the September 24 chargeucés Supp. Decl. Ex. B.) According to the

7“Defs.’ Supp. Mem.” refers to Defendants’ Supplemektamorandum of Law in Support of their Motion to
Dismiss, filed on June 16, 2016. (Doc. 68.) “Pl.’'s Opgfers to Plaintiff's Memorandum of Law in Opposition to
Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss, filed aluly 22, 2016. (Doc. 71.)
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certificates of disposition rdiag to the Remaining Chargeshich were each certified on
September 14, 2015, the dispositions were sirtiidy they were “consolidated with another
case’—the September 24 charge—on May 14, 20R2) (

II. Procedural History

This action was commenced when Plairdifid Lorenzo Serna filed the Complaint on
September 24, 2014 against numerous members of the NYPD, the City of New York,
Bloomberg, and Kelly. (Doc. 1.) Certaintbe Defendants who had been served, including the
City of New York, filed an answer to the Colamt on April 3, 2015. (Doc. 17.) The case was
then referred for mediation pursuant to Local Civil Rule 83 4€ekt. Entry Apr. 3, 2015),
and on April 7, 2015, | set an initial pretr@nference for October 15, 2015, (Doc. 18).

On October 14, 2015, | received two subnussi a letter from Plaintiff and Serna,
attaching the information requested in my ordétirggthe initial pretriakonference as well as a
proposed case management plan and schedulileg, dDoc. 22), and a pre-motion letter from
Defendants in anticipation of filing a motiondesmiss, (Doc. 23). Defendants’ pre-motion
letter also noted that Serna had acceptedffer of judgment during the mediatidr{ld.) On
October 15, 2015, | held theitial pretrial conference anoh that date, set a pre-motion
conference for November 5, 20155e€Dkt. Entry Oct. 15, 2015.) Plaintiff then filed a letter on

October 30, 2015, requesting extension of time to serve Bmdants Grodnick and Waring,

8 The parties submitted a stipulation and order of dismissal with respect to Serna on Janudf, bait 20e

stipulation asked me to retain jurisdiction to enfdfeesettlement without providing me with a copy of the

settlement agreementSdeDoc. 38.) As a result, | ked Defendants and Serna eitteeplace the terms of their
settlement agreement on the public record or revise their stipulation to remove the request that | retain jurisdiction.
(See id. Defendants requested two extensions of time to comiptythis order, (Docs. 39, 44), and | granted their
requests, (Docs. 40, 47). Defendants submitted a status report on February 26, 2016 anhthimgstue was

resolved between the parties and further court intervention was unnecessary. (Doc. 48.) | endorsed their letter on
February 29, 2016, and instructed them to submit a revised stipulation of partial vollistaigsal. (Doc. 49.) To

date, the parties have not done so, although the Amended Complaint removes Serna as a plaintiff and contains no
allegations referring to SernaSdeDoc. 66.)



both of whom had retired from the NYPD and whom Plaintiff had unwittingly failed to properly
serve. (Doc. 24.) On November 4, 2015, | reegianother letter from Plaintiff, this time
responding to Defendants’ Octaliet, 2015 pre-motion letter, (Do25), and thereafter issued

an order instructing the partiestie prepared to discuss the s®i service and the anticipated
motion to dismiss at the Novemb®conference, (Doc. 26). Atahconference, | set a briefing
schedule with respect to Plaffis motion for an extensioonf time to serve Grodnick and

Waring and, in accordance with that schedule parties briefed the issue fully. (Docs. 27-31,
33-34.) Affidavits were filed by all pagts, (Docs. 42—-43, 45-46), and on March 4, 2016, |
entered an order granting Riaff’'s motion for an extension of time to serve Grodnick and
Waring and setting a briefing schedule forf@wlants’ motion to dismiss, (Doc. 50).

Pursuant to that order, on April 4, 2016, Defants filed their motioto dismiss. (Docs.
52-53, 56.) However, on April 18, 2016, Plaintiff filadequest for an extension of time to file
his opposition, (Doc. 57), which | granted, (D&8), and on April 29, 2016, Plaintiff filed a
letter motion requesting leave to file an amended complaint, (Doc. 59). Defendants submitted a
letter in opposition on May 3, 2016, (Doc. 6)daon May 6, 2016, Plaintiff filed a letter as a
reply to Defendants’ opposition, (Doc. 61)set a pre-motion conference for May 12, 20%6g(
Dkt. Entry May 6, 2016), and on May 10, 2016, Pi#fimirote again to attach a proposed
amended complaint and a redline to the ind@hplaint, (Doc. 63). | held the conference on
May 12, 2016, during which | granted permissioflaintiff to file an amended complaint,
asked Defendants to determine, after reviewirgatimended complaint, whether they wished to
supplement their motion to dismiss or file a re¢abinotion to dismiss, and asked the parties to
propose a briefing schedule. | also asked the padisubmit the plea allocution referenced in

the pre-motion letters and, to the extent thatlleeution related to one charge, to submit case



law addressing whether a plaintiff can brin§ection 1983 action when the criminal charges
forming the basis of the action reeconsolidated and the plaifntered a guilty plea to one
charge.

After the conference, Defendants filed a letter submitting the parties’ proposed briefing
schedule and requesting leavdil® excess pages. (Doc. 64.) On June 1, 2016, | granted
Plaintiff leave to file the amended complaintarbefore June 3, 2016, entered the parties’
proposed briefing schedule, and granted Defetsdaxcess pages request. (Doc. 65.) In
accordance with that schedule, Plaintiff fikbe First Amended Complaint on June 1, 2016,
(Doc. 66), Defendants filed a supplemental memorandum of law and accompanying declaration
on June 16, 2016, (Docs. 67-68), Plaintiffdileis opposition on July 22, 2016, (Docs. 71-72),
and Defendants filed their reply on August 10, 2016, (Doc. 73).

On February 15, 2018, the parties filed afjdatter in which Plaintiff requested a pre-
motion conference in anticipatiaf filing a motion to open diswery. (Doc. 78.) Defendants
opposed Plaintiff's requestld() In light of this decision anthe directions | provide below,
Plaintiff's motion for a pranotion conference is denied.

III. ApplicableL aw

A. Motion to Dismiss
To survive a motion to dismiss under Rule 12(b)(6), “a complaint must contain sufficient
factual matter, accepted as trtee;state a claim to relief thag plausible on its face.”Ashcroft
v. Igbal 556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009) (quotiBgll Atl. Corp. v. Twomb|y550 U.S. 544, 570
(2007)). A claim will have “facial plausibilitywhen the plaintiff pleads factual content that
allows the court to draw the reasonable infeeathat the defendant is liable for the misconduct

alleged.” Id. This standard demands “more than a sheer possibility that a defendant has acted
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unlawfully.” 1d. “Plausibility . . . depends on a hostaainsiderations: the full factual picture
presented by the complaint, the particular cadsetion and its elementand the existence of
alternative explanations so obvious that treyder plaintiff's infeences unreasonablel’-7
Designs, Inc. v. Old Navy, LL.647 F.3d 419, 430 (2d Cir. 2011).

In considering a motion under Rule 12(b)@)zourt must “accept dihctual allegations
in the complaint as true and draw all reasoaatfierences in [the plaintiff's] favor.Johnson v.
Rowley 569 F.3d 40, 43 (2d Cir. 2009) (per curiaag¢ord Kassner v. 2nd Ave. Delicatessen
Inc., 496 F.3d 229, 237 (2d Cir. 2007). A complaint need not make “detailed factual
allegations,” but it must contain more thaere “labels and conclusions” or “a formulaic
recitation of the elements of a cause of actidgBal, 556 U.S. at 678 (internal quotation marks
omitted). Although all allegations stained in the complaint are assumed to be true, this tenet is
“inapplicable to legal conclusionsid.

A “complaint is deemed to include any writteistrument attached ibas an exhibit or
any statements or documents imrated in it by reference.Chambers v. Time Warner, Inc.
282 F.3d 147, 152 (2d Cir. 2002) (internal quotatiomksiamitted); Fed. R. Civ. P. 10(c). In
considering a motion to dismiss, a court may “cdeismatters of which judicial notice may be
taken under Fed.R.Evid. 201, includipgblic records such as arrest reports, indictments, and
criminal disposition data.’Smith v. City of N.YNo. 12 Civ. 4572(KPF), 2013 WL 6158485, at
*1 (S.D.N.Y. Nov. 25, 2013). “If a court takes judithotice of documents pertinent to a motion
to dismiss, it need not convert the motiormiemiss into a motion for summary judgment.”
Jones v. RiveraNo. 13-cv-1042 (NSR), 2015 WL 8362766, at *3 (S.D.N.Y. Dec. 7, 2015)
(internal quotation marks omitted).

Although the Second Circuit has not addressed whether Federal Rule of Civil Procedure
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10(c)—which provides that a “written instruméattached as an exhibit to a pleading is
incorporated into the pading—extends to videdSarcia v. Does779 F.3d 84, 87 n.2 (2d Cir.
2015), neither party objects to the admissibitityhe video or my viewing the video as
incorporated into the amended complaint. Ashsliaccept as true tliacts set forth in the
amended complaint to the extent theyrasecontradicted by the video evidencgee Kass v.
City of N.Y, 864 F.3d 200, 206 (2d Cir. 2017) (citi@@rcia, 779 F.3d at 88kee also Hyman v.
Abrams 630 F. App’x 40, 42 (2d Cir. 2015) (summarder) (denying 12(b)(6) motion to
dismiss where “video footage does not contraglicender implausible [plaintiff's] allegations”
and where “the angle and quality of the video &get make details of the incident difficult to
discern and in need of tewonial interpretation”).
B. Section 1983

Section 1983 provides a civil claim for damages against “[ejperson who, under color
of any statute . . . of any State . . . subjectsaoises to be subjected, any citizen . . . to the
deprivation of any rights, privileges, or immungisecured by the Constitution and laws . . . .”
42 U.S.C. § 1983. In other words, “[t]o statel@m under § 1983, a plaifftmust allege that
defendants violated aintiff's federal rights while aatig under color of state lawMcGugan v.
Aldana-Berniey 752 F.3d 224, 229 (2d Cir. 2014¥grt. denied135 S. Ct. 1703 (2015). Further,
“in order to establish a defendanindividual liability in a sit brought under § 1983, a plaintiff
must show . . . the defendant’s personal ingolent in the alleged constitutional deprivation.”
Grullon v. City of New Haverr20 F.3d 133, 138 (2d Cir. 2013). Alternatively, “to impose
liability on a municipality under § 1983, a plafhmust identify a municipal ‘policy’ or
‘custom’ that caused th@aintiff's injury.” Newton v. City of N.Y779 F.3d 140, 152 (2d Cir.

2015) (quotingdd. of Cty. Comm’rs v. Brow®20 U.S. 397, 403 (1997)nternal quotation
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marks omitted).

IV. Discussion

Plaintiff asserts claims that he was fdlsely arrested, (2) subject to malicious
prosecution, (3) denied his fair trial rights) (étaliated against in violation of his First
Amendment rights, and (5) subjected to maliciabiese of process, in connection with four
specific arrests and subsequent chafgesmoving to dismiss Plaintiff's claims, Defendants
argue both that, given that the OctoberN&yember 8, and November 27 charges were
disposed of as covered by a guilty plea to thet&@eber 24 arrest, Plaifitis foreclosed from
now bringing his claims related to those charges, that Plaintiff failedo plausibly allege any
of the abovementioned violations in conmettwith any of the four arrestsS¢eDefs.” Mem.;
Defs.” Supp. Mem?f Defendants also argue that e@rtof the claims against certain
Defendants should be dismissed for lack of personal involvement and, with respect to Defendant
Winski, the claims should be dismissed beca&latiff fails to properly plead a failure to
intervene. $eeDefs.” Mem. 7-8, 12-13, 18-19; Defsuip. Mem. 9 n.8, 10-11; Defs.’ Reply
6—7, 10-113 Finally, Defendants argue that Plafftias not pled facts to support municipal

liability underMonell. (SeeDefs.” Mem. 19-24; Defs.” Supp. Mem. 11-15; Defs.’ Reply 12—

9 Plaintiff also references search and seizure, assault and battery, trespass upon his persoeysiod obhis

property in connection with his First Claim for Reliehich generally summarizes his Section 1983 claifee(

Am. Compl. 1 120.) However, Plaintiff does not assert specific allegations under any of these potential claims in the
Amended Complaint, nor does Plaintiff reference them in his opposition to Defendants’ motion to dismiss the
Amended Complaint. Aside from his references to seamdhseizure and trespass, whicteem to be incorporated

under his claims stating a general violation of his constitutiogiats during the alleged false arrests, | find that the
potential claims, to the extent they have been propadgdahave been abandoned. In any event, any claim for
“assault and battery” has been effectively dropped considering Plaintiff's removal of his exaassvdaim. In

addition, Plaintiff does not plead any factppgarting a conversion of his property.

0“pDefs.’ Mem.” refers to Defendants’ Memorandum of LemSupport of Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss, filed on
April 5, 2016. (Doc. 56.)

1 “Defs.’ Reply” refers to Defendants’ Reply Memorandum of Law in Support of Defendants’ Motiosnosdj
filed on August 10, 2016. (Doc. 73.)
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15.) | address thesgguments in turn.
A. Attachments to the Amended Complaint and Judicial Notice

As an exhibit to his Amended Complaintaftiff attached a vide of his November 27,
2011 arrest, which he relied on in the Amen@ednplaint. (Am. Compl. Ex. A, 11 115-17.)
Defendants do not object to my consideratiothefvideo, and indeed, rely on the “incorporated
video” in support of their owarguments. (Defs.” Supp. Mem. 2-3, 7-8, 10-11; Defs.’ Reply 4—
6.) Therefore, | considéhe video as part of Plaintiff's Amended ComplaiSee Kass864
F.3d at 206.

Additionally, in moving to dismiss, Defendaratached certificatesf disposition related
to Plaintiff's arrests, as well as an officialurbreporter’s transcript aftate court proceedings
addressing the criminal charges. 1 find that | peyperly consider the céitates of disposition
and state court transcript in connectwith Defendants’ motion to dismisSee Jone2015
WL 8362766, at *3 (taking judicial nate of certificate of dispositionJ;homas v. Westchester
Cty. Health Care Corp232 F. Supp. 2d 273, 276 (S.D.N.Y. 20Q2king judicial notice of
administrative hearing transcript).

B. Impact of Plaintiff's Guilty Plea

As a preliminary matter, Defendants—citin@ipliff’'s agreement to withdraw his “not
guilty” pleas for the Remaining Charges and dispose of the Remaining Charges as part of a plea
bargain in which he pled guilty to one countesisting arrest in conngon with the September
24 charge—argue that “Plaintiff’'s guilty plea forecloses any claims related to his [Remaining
Charges], just as certainly iforeclosed claims from . . . [the] September 24, 2011 arrest.”
(Defs.” Supp. Mem. 1-2, 3ee alsdefs.” Mem. 5 (“[P]laintiff's guilty plea for these four

arrests, which were consolidated under one daukenber . . . leads to the inference that the
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arrests were in fact privileged.”y?) As a general rule, “[w]hereétcivil rights plaintiff has been
convicted of the offense for which he was arrested, [the Second Circuit has] in effect accepted
the fact of that conviction anclusive evidence of the gotaith and reasonableness of the
officer’s belief in the lafulness of the arrest.Cameron v. Fogartyd06 F.2d 380, 388 (2d Cir.
1986). Defendants, however, have not cited ang lzag where this ruleas been applied to
foreclose a Section 1983 claim based on clsatiggt—although covered by a guilty plea to
another charge—did not arise outtloé same events and arrestttled to the charge to which
the civil rights plaintiff pledquilty. Put simply, the logical foundation of such a rule does not
easily apply to charges that were merely disdas as part of that same plea bargain but
otherwise bear no relation to tharticular events and arrest fehich the civil rights plaintiff
pled guilty?!3

Certainly, the treatment of guilty pleas in state court proceedings may provide a glimmer
of support for the conclusion that the rule state@ameronshould be applied to Plaintiff. For

example, in discussing the impact of a guiltggpbn charges that are either dismissed under or

12 plaintiff vigorously disputes what he deems to be Defendants’ characterization of the plea bargain as Plaintiff
pleading guilty to all four charges, and as part of his argument, devotes multiple pages to addressing the
requirements for a valid plea allocutiorSe€Pl.’s Opp. 7-11.) However, although Defendants were admittedly
careless with the language used to describe the plea baman—+eferring, in their original brief, to his “guilty

plea for these four arrests,” €3.” Mem. 5)—I do not read Defendants’ argument as stating that Plaintiff pled guilty
to each charge from each arrest, nor can they makeasuargument based on the papers submitted.

13 Although Defendants cite to a case in this district purportedly supporting the conclusion that a guilty plea to a
consolidated action extends across all charges and Bacgian 1983 action premised on any of the consolidated
charges, Defendants’ argument itianece on this case is misplace@&eéDefs.’ Supp. Mem. 4.) In that case,
Flemming v. New YoriNo. 06 Civ. 15226(RJH)(HBP), 2009 WL 6325520 (S.D.N.Y. Aug. 10, 2009), the plaintiff,
Flemming, was arrested and charged with numerous crimes in connection with his participatiaodnlarit

scheme.ld. at *1. After his arrest, Flemming was indicted on charges by two grand juries, both of whidedh
larceny counts arising out of the alleged fraidl. The two indictments were consolidated and, because the second
indictment was still outstanding after being consolidatgh the first, the trial court dismissed the second

indictment to eliminate the redundant charges that were now included as part of the firseimdict. Flemming

then pled guilty to one count of second degree larceny in full satisfaction of the consolidated charges against him.
Id. at *2. Among the many arguments made by Flemming was that the court had dismissed the charge to which he
pled guilty, which the court found erroneous based on the retabrét *20. Because the procedural and factual
posture of this case is materially diffatédrom the circumstances and fact$-lamming | find Flemmingto be

inapposite.

15



deemed covered by that plea, the New York €CotiAppeals explained that a defendant cannot
be retried unless the entire plea arrangement is vac&eiPeople v. Ric250 N.E.2d 721, 722
(N.Y. 1969). Furthermore, a defendant who daasept a plea bargain “forfeits the right to
challenge the factual basis for the plea mndccordingly, precluded from subsequently
challenging the merits of charges which were dismigséuke course oplea-bargaining
negotiations.”People v. Morelli644 N.Y.S.2d 574, 575 (3d Dep’t 1996) (refusing to allow the
defendant to withdraw his pleaam assault charge when heativered new facts related to the
arson charge that was dismissed alongside hity giliea). Taking the legal consequences of a
plea bargain along with the fact tHalaintiff here had to withdraWwis “not guilty” pleas in order
to enter his plea bargain, thereatdeast a logical basis, if ti@merorrule is applied, to infer

the lawfulness of Plaintiff's arrestsaléing to the Remaining Charges.

However, the impact that consolidationvairious criminal cases has on a defendant’s
and prosecutor’s ability to makese of the dismissed charges in the criminal context does not
lead to the inescapable conclusion that the catetan process will have some preclusive effect
in a civil case. Absent case law to the contrary and even considering the finality otherwise
granted to plea bargains, | do natdithat a civil rightglaintiff concedes the lawfulness of an
arrest where, as here, his guilty plea was to an entirely different charge stemming from entirely
different events that occurred on different datemftbe date of the offense to which the plaintiff
pled guilty!* Although, as Defendants notaurts have applied tf@amerorrule even when a
civil rights plaintiff pled guilty to a lesser chargbese cases differ in a critical and material way

from the circumstances presented here: the chamgeach of those casstdll involved the same

¥ This finding does not address what the legal ramifications would be if discovery demoniséataties prosecution
and Vincent agreed that the People would accept Vincent's guilty plea in satisfaction of the Remaining Charges and
Vincent's agreement not to pursue civil claims related to the Remaining Charges.
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underlying arrestSee Jone2015 WL 8362766, at *4 (holding that pleading guilty to lesser-
included offenses to resolve all charges stamgrfriom single allegedly false arrest conceded
probable cause for all chagygoverned by plea agreeme@mith 2013 WL 6158485, at *3
(plaintiff pled guilty to one charge in satisfatiof all charges that were related to the same
arrest);Hope v. City of N.YNo. CV-08-5022 (BMC), 2010 WB31678, at *1 (E.D.N.Y. Jan.
22, 2010)“Because [the plaintiff's] arrest, inciiment, prosecution, and conviction [by guilty
plea] for disorderly conductladrose out of the same incident, the . . . 8 1983 action would
necessarily impugn his criminal conviction . . . Rpundtree v. City of N.Y/78 F. Supp. 614,
619 (E.D.N.Y. 1991). My decision accords wilie “more logical apmach”—identified in a
different context in a case aitdy Defendants—"to consider adotal transaction whether the
activity forming the basis for the arrest is the same as the activity to which the defendant pleaded
guilty.” Hope 2010 WL 331678, at *2 n.4.

Nothing in the Amended Complaint, certificatddisposition, or trascript indicates that
Plaintiff's agreement to consolidate the RernmajrCharges with the September 24 charge and
deem them covered by his guilty plea amoumteain admission of guilt with respect to the
underlying conduct related to the Remaining Charda addition, Defendants have not cited
any case law holding that a guilty pléeat covers or is taken gatisfaction of unrelated charges
implies the lawfulness of those underlying undbarrests. Thereferl deny Defendants’

motion to dismiss the Remaining Charges as barred by the plea Bargain.

15 Separately, Defendants argue that Plaintiff's Section t88&s related to his Remaining Charges are barred by
the Supreme Court’s opinion kteck v. Humphreys12 U.S. 477 (1994), which held that when considering a
Section 1983 suit, “the district court must consider whether a judgment in favor of thi#fplaiuld necessarily
imply the invalidity of his conviction or sentencdd. at 487. For the reasons just stated, | do not findhek
applies to bar Plaintiff's claims.
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C. False Arrest

A Section 1983 claim for falserast that is alleged to have occurred in New York is
“substantially the same as a claim false arrest under New York lawGonzalez v. City of
Schenectadyr28 F.3d 149, 155 (2d Cir. 2013) (citiddeyant v. OkstlO1 F.3d 845, 852 (2d
Cir. 1996)). Under federal and state lavplaintiff bringing a falg arrest claim must
demonstrate that “(he defendant intended to confine thlaintiff, (2) the plaintiff was
conscious of the confinement, (3) the plaindiid not consent to the enforcement and (4) the
confinement was not otherwise privilegedsinger v. Fulton Cty. Sherif63 F.3d 110, 118 (2d
Cir. 1995) (internal quotation marks omitted).

In determining whether an arrest was privldgcourts essentialjecide whether there
was legal justification for the challenged ary@st‘in most cases, whether there was probable
cause.”Marom v. City of N.Y No. 15-cv-2017 (PKC), 2016 WR16424, at *5 (S.D.N.Y. Mar.

7, 2016) (Marom '), on reconsideration in pare016 WL 5900217 (S.D.N.Y. July 29, 2016)
(“Marom 1I"). Because of the presumption that a wattess arrest is unlawful, plaintiffs are not
required to allege a lack ofgivable cause when stating a faseest claim based on such an
arrest. See Broughton v. Statg7 N.Y.2d 451, 458 (19753ge also Jenkins v. City of N.¥78
F.3d 76, 88 (2d Cir. 2007). Plaintiff here alletjest he was arrested without a warrant on each
of his four arrests and, thereéote sufficiently pleads thatetarrests were not privileged.

However, probable cause to arrest may stifleaas a “complete defense to an action for
false arrest.”"Weyant 101 F.3d at 852 (quotirgernard v. United State25 F.3d 98, 102 (2d
Cir. 1994)). “The question of whether or nobpable cause existed may be determinable as a
matter of law if there is no dispute as to theipent events and the knowledge of the officers.”

Id. “[A]n officer ‘has probable cause to arre@ghen he or she has knowledge or reasonably
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trustworthy information of facts and circumstas that are sufficiend warrant a person of
reasonable caution in the belief that the person to be arrested has committed or is committing a
crime.” Garcia, 779 F.3d at 92 (quotingickerson v. Napolitand®04 F.3d 732, 751 (2d Cir.
2010)).

Additionally, “[a]n officer is etitled to qualified immunity against a suit for false arrest
if he can establish that he had ‘argugiiebable cause’ to arrest the plaintifid. (quoting
Zalaski v. City of Hartford723 F.3d 382, 390 (2d Cir. 2013§)“Arguable probable cause
exists if either (a) it was obgtively reasonable for the officer believe that probable cause
existed, or (b) officers of reasonable compegecould disagree on whether the probable cause
test was met.”ld. (quotingZalaski 723 F.3d at 390%ee also Basinski v. City of N.¥92 F.
Supp. 3d 360, 365 (S.D.N.Y. 2016).

Here, Defendants argue that Plaintiff's @akarest claims all fail because there was
probable cause to effectuate Hreests. However, the factsateged in Plaintiff's Amended
Complaint do not demonstrate atiprobable cause or arguaplebable cause with respect to
any of the four arrests.

1. TheOctober 15 Arrest

In connection with the October 15 arresgiRliff specifically alleges that he was
encouraged by the police officers in his effortkeep the protesters together while Plaintiff
communicated with the protestlder on the other side of thzeet. (Am. Compl. 11 66—69.)
Plaintiff was arrested for disorderly condirtiviolation of New York Penal Law § 240.20(5)

and (6). [d. 1 70.) Although Plaintiff does not statdether the arresting officer, Defendant

16 Although Plaintiff suggests otherwise, (Pl.’s Opp. 38+-8he Second Circuit has noted that “qualified immunity
can . . . be established at the pleading stage . . e Stipreme Court has made clear that qualified immuaitype
established by the facts alleged in a complai@drcia, 779 F.3d at 97.
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Curley, was aware of Plaintif’communications with the other NYPD officers, in viewing the
Amended Complaint favorably to Plaintiff, | ptese that Curley should have been aware of
those exchanges. These facts redaintiff's claims different fronGarcia, where the Second
Circuit, in deciding that thefficers had probable cause to arregtecifically emphasized that the
plaintiff had only expressed a belief in “impliedrpession” to violate triic laws and that “no
official had expressly authorizele protesters” to engagethe alleged unlawful behavior.
Garcia, 779 F.3d at 93. Indeed, the Second Cirewén distinguished a Supreme Court case
cited by the plaintiff for that same reasd®ee idat 95 (citingCox v. Louisiana379 U.S. 559
(1965), and explaining that fDox the police officials had giveexplicit permission to conduct
the demonstration in a particular location).efidfore, based on the pleadings, Curley did not
have arguable probable causarrest Plaintiff.
2. TheOctober 26 Arrest

With respect to the October 26 arrest, PlHintaims he was on the sidewalk on Reade
Street just west of Broadway when, without issuing a dispersal &Nd&1D officers pulled him
from the sidewalk where he was present alortf wiher protesters. (Am. Compl. 11 82—-84.)
These allegations conflict with those in the criminal complaint which allege, in part, that Plaintiff
was part of a group of fifty people locking armghe street blocking tfac. Taking Plaintiff's
version of the events as acdaraas | must, Plaintiff allege® facts that would raise an
inference of arguable probaldause to arrest hinSee Marom,12016 WL 916424, at *5
(“Given the lack of factual coant alleged in the [Amended Complaint], it is impossible for the
Court to determine, as a matter of law, ti@re was probable cause to arrest. This also
precludes the Court from being able to determi¢his stage, whetheefendants are protected

from liability by the doctrine ofjualified immunity.”).

20



3. TheNovember 8 Arrest

In connection with the November 8 arresgiriff alleges facts describing a verbal
exchange he had with police affirs after he obeyed orders tova back into Zuccotti Park and
stand behind a barrier whildfigers investigated a “suspicious package somewhere north of
Zuccotti Park.” (Am. Compl{ 94-96.) Since the suspiciquexckage was in the opposite
direction of where Plaiift had been heading when stoppedthy NYPD, he asked an officer if
he could continue south, and was given the sasteuction to move behind the barrietd. ({1
95-96.) When Plaintiff responded that he wasaaly behind the barrier, he was arrested for
obstruction of governmental adnmsiiation and disorderly conduat, violation of New York
Penal Law § 195.05 and 8§ 240.20(6), respectivdly. f[fl 97-98.)

However, Plaintiff does not allege any supporting a reasonaldonclusion that he
was “congregat[ing] with othgrersons in a public place” aatleges that he complied with the
order to relocate, negating aimference of arguable probable sauo arrest for disorderly
conduct on November 8eeN.Y. Penal Law § 240.20(6) (“A person is guilty of disorderly
conduct when, with intent to ceel public inconvenience, annog& or alarm, or recklessly
creating a risk thereof . . . He congregates witter persons in a public place and refuses to
comply with a lawful order of the police to dispersesge also Holmes v. City of N.Xo. 14
CV 5253-LTS, 2016 WL 915332, at *3 (S.D.N.Y. Mar.2016) (finding that kegations that the
plaintiff was told individually to leave a adlway did not demonstrate a disorderly conduct
violation), reconsideration denie®017 WL 519250 (S.D.N.Y. Feb. 8, 2017). Furthermore,
because Plaintiff only alleges a verbal exutpe with the police officers, the Amended
Complaint does not establish argleaprobable cause to arrest Hn obstruction of justice.

Seel.Y. Penal Law § 195.05 (“A person is guittf obstructing governmental administration
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when he intentionally . . . prevents or attentptprevent a public seant from performing an
official function, by means of intimidation, physidalce or interference, or by means of any
independently unlawful act . . . ."'$ge also Uzoukwu v. City of N.805 F.3d 409, 414-15 (2d
Cir. 2015) (explaining that purelerbal interference is infficient under this provision);
Holmes 2016 WL 915332, at *4 (holding that eviirough the plaintiff did not immediately
leave the runway, the failure to vacate the wang for reasons already explained, was not an
“independently unlawful act”).
4. November 27 Arrest

With respect to the November 27 arresg, plarties offer conflicting accounts of the
events leading to Plaintiff's arrest, including darting interpretations of what transpired on the
video of the arrest. From a rew of the video, it is unclear exactly what transpired in the
interaction between the officers and Plaintiilhatever the interptation, unlike the video
submitted in théasinskicase cited by Defendants, the \adies not clearly demonstrate that
Plaintiff was “vociferously argumentative” or imected himself into interactions with third
parties in a “seemingly provocative manner,” nat @dear from the video that Plaintiff was
making the officers “uncomfortable” or “nervoudgt alone that the officers made that known to
Plaintiff. See Basinskil92 F. Supp. 3d at 366 (plaintiff asted for obstruction of governmental
administration and disorderly conduct). Nor isléar from the video tha&laintiff was resisting
arrest as also charged on November 27. Asutré do not find that # alleged facts at this
stage allow me to infer that Cabrera and Manhiag arguable probable caueearrest Plaintiff.
See Hyman630 F. App’x at 42 (affirming denial ofiotion to dismiss where video footage was
unclear, details of the incident based on tlieeiwere difficult to discern, and “testimonial

interpretation” of vileo was necessary).
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Accordingly, Defendants’ motion to dismissalitiff's false arrest claims is denied,

subject to my discussion regarding the personal involvement of Defemufaats
D. Malicious Prosecution

To state a malicious prosdmn claim under Section 1983, aapitiff must allege the
elements of a state-law malicious prosecution cles®e Fulton v. RobinspA89 F.3d 188, 195
(2d Cir. 2002). The elements of malicious prasen are: (1) the initiation of a prosecution
against a plaintiff; (2) without probable caué®); the proceedings were begun with malice; and
(4) the matter terminated in plaintiff's favd8ee Savino v. City of N,'831 F.3d 63, 72 (2d Cir.
2003);0’Brien v. Alexanderl01 F.3d 1479, 1484 (2d Cir. 1996). In actions brought under
Section 1983, a plaintiff mustsa have suffered a sufficient p@sraignment deprivation of
liberty implicating his Fourth Amendment rightSee Jocks v. Tavernje816 F.3d 128, 136 (2d
Cir. 2003);Rohman v. N.Y.C. Transit Auth. (NYCT205 F.3d 208, 215 (2d Cir. 2000).

| find that Plaintiff has not stated a clainr foalicious prosecutiom connection with the
October 15, November 8, and November 27 chdngeause he has not and cannot allege that
the prosecutions terminated in his favor. RatR&intiff alleges only tht those charges were
“dismissed” on October 10, 2012Am. Compl. 11 76, 107, 118As noted above, the
certificates of disposition arttie transcript of the Octob&0, 2012 proceeding in which those
charges were dismissed demonstrate thestetltharges were caislated along with a
September 24 charge and then deemed covered under Plaintiff's guilty plea to that Geege. (
Lucas Supp. Decl. Exs. B, C.) Plaintiff explicithgthdrew his not guiltyplea with regard to the
offenses charged on October 15, Novemben8,NMovember 27. These circumstances do not
show that the prosecutions “temated in plaintiff's favor.” See Murphy v. Lynri18 F.3d 939,

948 (2d Cir. 1997) (“Where the prosecution did ngutein an acquittal, it is deemed to have
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ended in favor of the accused, for these purpasdg.when its final disposition is such as to
indicate the innocence of the accused.”). Assallt, Plaintiff’'s malicious prosecution claims
related to the October 18pvember 8, and November 27 charges are dismissed.

With respect to the October 26 charge, Defatglanove to dismiss Plaintiff's malicious
prosecution claim for two reasons: first, ttegue that there was probable cause; and second,
they argue that Plaintiff ha®t pled a sufficient post-arraiment liberty restraint. SeeDefs.’
Supp. Mem. 674§ For the reasons stated above in coriaeatith the false arrest claim, | find
that Plaintiff's allegations do not supporetbxistence of arguable probable cause.

With respect to whether Plaintiff adequatplgd a post-arraignment liberty restraint, the
Second Circuit has “consistently held that atprraignment defendant who is obligated to
appear in court in connectiontwicriminal charges whenevershattendance is required suffers a
Fourth Amendment deprivation of libertySwartz v. Insogna/04 F.3d 105, 112 (2d Cir. 2013)
(internal quotation marks omittedVhile “[tlhe Second Circuthas not provided a bright-line
rule to establish when court appearances adoffece to establish a Fourth Amendment liberty
deprivation,” the Second Cirddhas, however, held that two court appearances do not suffice,
but that eight court appearances combivéd a ban on out-of-state travel wouldHolmes
2016 WL 915332, at *5 (citations omitted). Althougbtably imprecise and not directly tied to
any one of his six arrests, Plafhalleges that he made fifte@ourt appearances, at least ten of
which occurred after his Octob26 arrest and therefore could péaly be attributed to that
arrest!® (SeeAm. Compl. 1 61.) As such, Plaintiff has alleged facts in connection with his

October 26 charge sufficient to n@past the pleading stage.

17 Defendants additionally raise, for the first time iplyethat there was no favorable termination in connection
with the October 26 arrest. (Defs.” Reply 9.) | declinedwsider an argument raised tbe first time in reply.

8t is not clear why Plaintiff did natlentify a specific number afourt appearances to any particular arrest rather
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For the foregoing reasons, Defendantstiomoto dismiss the malicious prosecution
claims is granted in part amignied in part, subject to nayscussion regarding the personal
involvement of Defendanisfra.

E. Fair Trial Rights

“When a police officer creates false infornoatiikely to influencea jury’s decision and
forwards that information to prosecutors, he aiet the accused’s constitutional right to a fair
trial.” Ricciuti v. N.Y.C. Transit Authl24 F.3d 123, 130 (2d Cir. 1998ge also Canario v.
City of N.Y, No. 05 Civ. 9343(LBS), 2006 WL 2015651 *at(S.D.N.Y. July 12, 2006).
Although a plaintiff must hae been “charged with a violation aiime” to bring this claim, “[a]
plaintiff need not have proceeded to a full trial on the meri@atavalho v. City of N.YNo. 13-
cv-4174 (PKC)(MHD), 2016 WL 1274575, it (S.D.N.Y. Mar. 31, 2016) Caravalho I)
(citations omitted) (currently on appeaBconsideration deniedjo. 13-cv-4174 (PKC)(MHD),
2016 WL 4154273 (S.D.N.Y. July 29, 2016L€@ravalho II'). Additionally, while a plaintiff
must also have suffered a deprivation of libextya result of the lige information, “[t]he
imposition of charges based on an allegedly false accusatory instrument satisfies, at the motion
to dismiss stage, the requirement that fataséements forwarded to a prosecutor cause a
deprivation of liberty.” Caravalho Il 2016 WL 4154273, at *1-2 (internal quotation marks
omitted).

As Plaintiff states, “the gravaen of [his] claims is that ith regard to each arrest, the
Defendants made false statements concernm@ldintiff’s conduct intheir sworn criminal

complaints, which then formed the basis of the Plaintiff’'s prosecution.” (Pl.’s Opp. 29.) In

than providing an aggregatember for all arrests at issue. Howevedigcovery reveals that Plaintiff made only
two or fewer appearances in connectiathwis October 26 arrest, Plaintiff's malicious prosecution claim related to
that arrest will likely not survive a summary judgment motion.
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moving to dismiss, Defendants argue that theeAded Complaint (1) does not specify how the
criminal complaints were false, and (2) doespiead facts sufficient toreate an inference that
the criminal complaints were “likely to influea@ jury’s decision.” (Bfs.” Mem. 24-25; Defs.’
Supp. Mem. 8-10.)

With respect to falsity, unlike the cases @ity Defendants, Plaifitspecifically, albeit
at times in a convoluted fashion, alleges whafdlse statements were and how they were false,
and makes factual allegations thantradict certain of the statentein the criminal complaints.
(CompareAm. Compl. 1| 74-75, 88—-91, 100-05, 113—1bih Pesola v. City of N.YNo. 15-
CV-1917 (PKC)(SN), 2016 WL 1267797,*t1 (S.D.N.Y. Mar. 30, 2016[fair trial claim based
only on “broad and conclusory allegations tbfficers ‘filed false repds’™ without asserting
“how, in what way, or to what effect” the reports were falsifiettd Abdul-Rahman v. City of
N.Y, No. 10 Civ. 2778, 2012 WL 1077762, at *12 (ENDY. Mar. 30, 2012) (plaintiff only
included general allegations tttae officers provided false statements that the plaintiff
committed various crimes)). Given that Plaindifieges that the charging officers placed false
statements in criminal complaints, | also findttRlaintiff has allegedufficient facts to support
an inference that the allegedly false informatimuld be reasonably likely influence a jury.
See Marom 12016 WL 5900217, at * 2—3 (stating that standard is whether the content of the
information was material and, if admitteddhgh the testimony of the affiants, likely to
influence a jury’s decision). Specifically, @@nnection with the October 15 arrest, Plaintiff
alleges that Curley stated in a criminal comglénat Plaintiff entered the street repeatedly in
violation of an order, when no such orades given. (Am. Compl. 11 68-69, 73—-75.) In
connection with the October 26rest, Plaintiff alleges that Wiag and McNamara stated in a

criminal complaint and depositidhat Plaintiff was part of a gup of individuals locking arms
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in the street thereby blocking trafficld( {9 88—90.) However, Plaintiff claims he was on the
sidewalk at all times and did nimiterlock arms with anyoneld( § 91.) In connection with the
November 8 arrest, Plaintiff afjes that Grodnick and Traynoatd in a criminal complaint

that they asked Plaintiff to mo¥eom his location four times and he refused, but Plaintiff asserts
he complied with the order to moved.(11 94-97, 100-05.) With regard to the November 27
arrest, Plaintiff alleges that Manning stated in a criminal complaint that Plaintiff “repeatedly”
stepped between the arresting officer and anothestad individual, but Plaintiff claims he was
approximately fifteen feet away from the arrastl did not repeatedstep in between the

officers and the other individualld( 1 113-15.)

Although facts may later emerge to cast doubt on these claims, Defendants’ motion to
dismiss Plaintiff's fair trial rights claims @enied, subject to my discussion regarding the
personal involvement of Defendamt$ra.

F. Abuse of Process

To state a claim for malicious abuse of procagdaintiff must plasibly allege that the
defendant “(1) employ[ed] regularly issued legacess to compel permance or forbearance
of some act (2) with intent o harm without excuse or justiition, and (3) in order to obtain a
collateral objective that is outsideetlegitimate ends of the proces€bok v. Sheldgml F.3d
73, 80 (2d Cir. 1994). To establish that the defahzued legal process “in order to obtain a
collateral objective thas outside the legitimate endstbk process,” it is not enough for a
plaintiff to establish a malicious motiveithar, a plaintiff musshow an “impropepurposein
instigating the action.’Saving 331 F.3d at 77. Moreover, “[t]hmursuit of a collateral objective
must occufterthe process is issued; the mere actsiiing process does not give rise to a

claim.” De Santis v. City of N.YNo. 10 Civ. 3508(NRB), 2011 W4005331, at *8 (S.D.N.Y.
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Aug. 29, 2011) (quotingopez v. City of N.Y901 F. Supp. 684, 691 (S.D.N.Y. 1995)).

Defendants’ first argument, that the exmste of probable causkefeats the abuse of
process claims, must be rejected based upon rhgrdarding that Plaitiff’s allegations do not
establish arguable probable cause for the ara¢stsue. However, Defendants offer two other
arguments in support of dismissal: (1) that Rifiihas not alleged a collateral objective; and (2)
that Plaintiff has not alleged the pursuit afyaollateral objective oceting after process was
issued. Plaintiff rests his abuse of process claim for each of the state charges on the filing of a
false criminal complaint or affidavit.SeePl.’s Opp. 32.) Plaintiffurther argues that the
“number of arrests, combined with the maninewhich they were prosecuted, achieved an
unlawful collateral purpose of forcing the Plafihto cease participation i@ccupy Wall Street.”
(Id.) However, beyond his own conclusory asea, Plaintiff does not cite any facts
demonstrating that the criminal complaints wenated to get him to stop participating in OWS
demonstrationsSee Marom,l12016 WL 916424, at *8 (conspity to falsify arresting
documents permitted an inference that defersdiaénded to do harm to plaintiffs, but was
insufficient to sustain a claim for abuse of pra&jesvioreover, Plaintifs claim that he stopped
participating in OWS demonstrations is nabqirthat this was Defendants’ objective.

As a result, Defendants’ motion to dismiss Pifiatabuse of process claims is granted.

G. First Amendment Retaliation

To state a First Amendment riéion claim, a private citizemust show “(1) he has an
interest protected by the Rirkmendment; (2) defendants’ actions were motivated or
substantially caused by his exercise of thattrighd (3) defendants’ aotis effectively chilled
the exercise of his First Amendment righGersbacher v. City of N.\Y134 F. Supp. 3d 711,

722 (S.D.N.Y. 2015) (quotinguck v. Danaher600 F.3d 159, 168 (2d Cir. 20103ge also
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Dorsett v. Cty. of Nassau32 F.3d 157, 160 (2d Cir. 2013) (per curiam). Notwithstanding
Defendants’ arguments to the contrary, Plaintif Baccessfully pled all three elements. As an
initial matter, by participating in the OWS praiesPlaintiff engaged ifwhat can reasonably be
described as political speech in its purest for@érsbacher134 F. Supp. 3d at 723 (internal
guotation marks omitted). Additionally, Plaintdfearly alleges that Defendants “arrested him
due to his participation in the [OWS protestshtalso “alleged that the . injury he suffered
due to [his arrests]” led him to abandon his eff¢ot support OWS and all political involvement.
Id. (SeeAm. Compl. 1 55, 143.)

As a result, Defendants’ motion to dismisaiRliff's First Amendment claim is denied.

H. Personal Involvement

The “personal involvement of defendantsalleged constitutionaleprivations is a
prerequisite to an award of damagegajast individual defendants] under 8 198®.ovost v.
City of Newburgh262 F.3d 146, 154 (2d Cir. 2001) (quotWgight v. Smith21 F.3d 496, 501
(2d Cir. 1994)). A plaintiff may also demorettie the personal involvaant of a supervisor by
alleging facts showing that:

(1) [T]he defendant participated directtythe alleged contitional violation, (2)

the defendant, after beinggammed of the violation through a report or appeal,

failed to remedy the wrong, (3) the deflant created a policy or custom under

which unconstitutional practices occurred, or allowed the continuance of such a

policy or custom, (4) the defendantswgrossly negligent in supervising

subordinates who committelde wrongful acts, or (5) the defendant exhibited

deliberate indifference to the righag[individuals] by failing to act on

information indicating that unconasttional acts were occurring.
Colon v. Coughlin58 F.3d 865, 873 (2d Cir. 1995).

It is also “widely recognized #t all law enforcement officialhave an affirmative duty to

intervene to protect the constitutional rigbtitizens from infringement by other law

enforcement officers in their presencd@.érebesi v. Torres@64 F.3d 217, 243 (2d Cir. 2014)
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(quotingAnderson v. Branerl7 F.3d 552, 557 (2d Cir. 1994)). “An officer who fails to
intercede in [a] constitutional violah is liable for the preventable harm caused by the actions of
other officers. Whether the officer had aalistic opportunity’ to itervene is normally a
guestion for the jury, unless,dosidering all the evidence, aas®mnable jury could not possibly
conclude otherwise.”ld. (quotingAnderson17 F.3d at 557).

Defendants appear to argue t{itin connection with his fae arrest claim, Plaintiff
failed to plead the personal involvement oy @f the NYPD Defendants with respect to the
October 26 arrest, (Defs.” Mem. 7-8), (2) in cection with the deprivadn of fair trial rights
claim, Plaintiff similarly failed to plead the p®nal involvement of Wiski, Blanco, Bloomberg,
Kelly, Waring, Grodnick, or Manning, (Defs.upp. Mem. 9 n.8, 10; Defs.” Reply 10-11), and
(3) Plaintiff failed to plead a failure to interveas to Defendant Winski with respect to the
November 27 arrest, (Defs.” Mem. 18—-19;f©eSupp. Mem. 10-11; Defs.’ Reply 6-7).

With respect to the false arrest claims generally, the Amended Complaint alleges the
personal involvement only with regard to (1)f@sdant Curley in the October 15, 2011 arrest,
(Am. Compl. 11 62, 71); (2) Defendants Warimgl McNamara in the October 26, 2011 arrest,
(id. 1191 77, 86); (3) Defendants Grodnick amdynor in the November 8, 2011 arregt, { 98—
99); and (4) Defendants Manning and Wirnga the November 27, 2011 arrest. (T 111-12,
116-17). To the extent that Plaintiff is attding to allege a false arrest claim against

Defendants who were not personally involved giveen arrest, Plaintiff has failed to state a

19 Defendants also point out that Plaintiff did not include any allegations against Edward B¥ileon,Vernelly,
Carbajal, and Paul Reres in the Amended Complaint. (Defs.” Supp. Mem. 1 n.1.) Defandaatrrect. Indeed,
Plaintiff did not even include Defendants Vernelly, Carbajal, or Reres in the case caption in his Amended
Complaint, indicating Plaintiff's intent to withdraw anyaths against those Defendangsithough Plaintiff does
reference Defendant Blanco in his Amended Complaindoes not allege any facts related to Defendant Blanco.
(SeeAm. Compl. 11 20, 120.) As aresult, | dismiss allrok against Defendants Btam Vernelly, Carbajal, and
Reres.
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claim against those Defendants with respeetrtests in which they were not personally
involved.

In arguing that Plaintiff fails to pleadelpersonal involvememf Winski, Blanco,
Bloomberg, Kelly, Waring, Grodnick, or Manning iretdeprivations of his fair trial rights,
Defendants make two arguments. First, Ddénts note that the Amended Complaint does not
plead a claim for denial of Plaintiff's fafirial rights against Defendants Winski, Blanco,
Cabrera, Bloomberg, and KellyS¢eDefs.” Supp. Mem. 9 n.8; DefRReply 11.) Defendants
are correct; Plaintiff's Fourth Claim for Reliefrfdenial of his faitrial rights lists only
Defendants Curley, Waring, McNamara, Gro#tni€raynor, and Manning, (Am. Compl. 11
136-39)%° and the Amended Complaint contains no allegations regarding the involvement of
Defendants Bloomberg, Kelly, Blan, or Winski in providing any alleged false stateméhts.
Therefore, | do not construe the Amended Complaiallege a claim fodenial of Plaintiff’s
fair trial rights against Defendés Bloomberg, Kelly, Blanco, &inski. Like the allegations
regarding false arrests, the Amended Complaint alleges the personal involvement in submitting
false statements only of (1) Defendant Cumeéth respect to the October 15, 2011 arraegdt, {1

72-75); (2) Defendants Waring and McNamara watpect to the October 26, 2011 arradt, (

20| also note that Plaintiff's Sixth &im for Relief for malicious prosecution lists only Defendants Curley, Waring,
McNamara, Grodnick, Traynor, and Manning. (Am. Compl. 1 146.) It does not specifically list Defendanis Winsk
Blanco, Bloomberg, or Kelly.ld.) As such, | do not construe the Amended Complaint to allege a claim for
malicious prosecution against Defendants Winski, Blanco, Bloomberg, or Kelly. As discussedalpove,

Plaintiff's malicious prosecution claimith respect to the October 26, 2011 charge survives. Plaintiff only alleges
the personal involvement of Defendants Waring and McNamara in the October 26, 2011 duchatge I¢l. 1

77-93.) To the extent that Plaintiff is attemptinglege a malicious prosecution claim against Defendants who
were not personally involved in the October 26, 2011samecharge, Plaintiff has failed to state a claim against
those Defendants.

21 To the extent that Plaintiff's Amended Complaint camesel to include claims amst Defendants Bloomberg
and Kelly personally in their capacity as supervisors, gRhlamtiff's allegation that thewere generally responsible
for overseeing NYPD matters, and for making or otherwise ratifying the decisions leadiaglieged policies,
(seeAm. Compl. 11 16-17, 154, 220, 256), Plaintiff still fails to allege facts supporting the imposition of
supervisory liability for manyf the reasons stated in connectigth my discussion of Plaintiff' $1onell claims,
infra. See Colon58 F.3d at 873.
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19 88-92); (3) Defendants Grodnick and Traynibin wespect to the November 8, 2011 arrest,
(id. 1111 100-06); and (4) Defendant Manning wekpect to the November 27, 2011 arredt, (

11 113-15). To the extent that Plaintiff is attemptio allege a deprivatnoof fair trial rights

claim against Defendants who were not peripimavolved in a given arrest and charge,

Plaintiff has failed to state a aiagainst those Defendants witlspect to arrests and charges in
which they were not peosally involved

Defendants’ second argument is thatause Defendants Waring, Grodnick, and
Manning clearly state that any information thiegeived was relayed tbem by other officers,
Plaintiff has not claimed thatéke officers “created” any falsei@ence and therefore fails to
allege their personal involvementSgeDefs.” Supp. Mem. 10; Defs.’ Reply 11.) However, the
Amended Complaint clearly states tdafendants Waring, Grodnick, and Manning each
submitted false statements in a crimicamplaint, (Am. Compl. {{ 88, 92, 100, 101, 106, 113
14), and, since | must accept as true thegatiens in the Amended Complaint, | deny
Defendants’ motion to dismissdtiff’s fair trial rights chims against defendants Waring,
Grodnick, and Manning based @tk of personal involvement.

Finally, with respect to Defendants’ argumerdttRlaintiff failed toplead that Defendant
Winski failed to intervene, | find that Plaintiff sadequately pled that Defendant Winski had the
opportunity to intervene in Plaintiffs Novemb27 arrest and, therefore, | deny Defendants’
motion to dismiss Defendant Winski as it retate claims resulting &m that arrest.

l. Municipal Liability

The Supreme Court has held that a munidipatay be liable folSection 1983 violations

if the plaintiff's injury is the result omunicipal policy, custm, or practice.See Mone}l436

U.S. at 694. At the pleading sea@ plaintiff “must give a faatl description of such a policy,
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not just bald allegations that such a thing existdk’ss v. City of N.Y11 Civ. 7604(TPG),
2013 WL 1164919, at *2 (S.D.N.Y. Ma19, 2013). As such, inader to properly state a claim
for municipal liability a phintiff must allege “(1) an officigbolicy or custom that (2) causes the
plaintiff to be subjected to (3)denial of a constitutional right.Zahra v. Town of Southqld8
F.3d 674, 685 (2d Cir. 1995) (citation omitted).

A plaintiff may satisfy the policy or custn requirement by alleging (1) a formal

policy officially endorsed by the munpality; (2) actions taken by government

officials responsible for establishitige municipal policies that caused the

particular deprivation in question; (3) aaptice so consisteand widespread that,

although not expressly authorized, constisua custom or usage of which a

supervising policy-maker must have besvare; or (4) a failure by policymakers

to provide adequate trainirmg supervision to subordinat¢o such an extent that

it amounts to deliberate indifference to tights of those who come into contact

with the municipal employees.
Kucharczyk v. Westchester Ct95 F. Supp. 3d 529, 538-39 (S.D.N.Y. 2015) (internal quotation
marks omitted). Even if a plaintiff satisfies the “policy or custom” requirement, a plaintiff must
still “demonstrate a direct causal link betweenrthaicipal action and thaéeprivation of federal
rights.” Brown 520 U.S. at 404.

Plaintiff alleges three policies or practicgesupport of municipal liability, and alleges
that each of his arrests can be attributed teast one of those poies. (Am. Compl. 11 150-
267.)

1. FailuretoTrain

First, Plaintiff alleges a failure to train officewith respect to theghts of protesters and
the interplay of small offenses with the protesteonstitutional rightsand “proper policing of
expressive speech activity prated by the First Amendment.id( 11 150-71.) Plaintiff claims
that this failure, along with ghother policies, contributed tbe October 15, October 26, and

November 27 arrestsld( 11 263-66.)
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Municipal liability is at its “most temous” when it rests on a failure to trai@onnick v.
Thompson563 U.S. 51, 61 (2011). Thus,subject a municipality thability for a failure to
train, a plaintiff “must show that a municipalgyfailure to train its employees amounted to
‘deliberate indifference.””Marom |, 2016 WL 916424, at *22 (quotir@onnick 563 U.S. at 61).
This is a “stringent standaad fault, requiring proof that mmunicipal actor disregarded a known
or obvious consequence of his actio@dnnick 563 U.S. at 61 (quotinBrown 520 U.S. at
410). Under this rubric, “when city policymakeaire on actual or camnsctive notice that a
particular omission in theirdming program causes city phayees to violate citizen’s
constitutional rights, the city may be deendgediberately indifferent if the policymakers choose
to retain that program.1d. In this vein, “[a] pattern asimilar constitutional violations by
untrained employees is ‘ordinlgrnecessary’ to demonstratelitberate indifference for purposes
of failure to train.” Id. at 62 (quotindBrown, 520 U.S. at 409). Ultimately, to establish
deliberate indifference, a ptaiff must show: (1) “thaa policymaker knows ‘to a moral
certainty’ that her employees widbnfront a given situation’(2) “that the situation either
presents the employee with a difficult choiceala sort that training aupervision will make
less difficult or that there islastory of employees mishandlitige situation”; and (3) “that the
wrong choice by the city employee will frequigntause the depritian of a citizen’s
constitutional rights.”"Walker v. City of N.Y974 F.2d 293, 297-98 (2d Cir. 1992).

Here, Plaintiff adequately states that thty ®new there would b&arge-scale protests by
individuals. §eeAm. Compl. 11 151-53.) However, Plafhfails to plausibly allege the
existence of a history of the NYPD mishandling thrrests of protesters that is caused by an
inadequate understanding of the interplay between small offenses and protesters’ constitutional

rights, or that the wrong choiceliMrequently cause a deprivatiaf that constitutional right.
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Plaintiff does state that officers are not traime handling First Amendment activity except
during Police Academy training and outlines the lggimciples that should have been part of
such a training. Id. 11 155, 157, 159.) However, the ofdgts that Plaintiff identifies in
support of any pattern of shandling situations because of a fi@lto train related to this issue
consists of other litigations salting in settlements that inlked the arrests of protesters,
including at the 2004 Republic&tational Convention, the “extens arrests” during OWS, and
the “exceptionally high rate at which arrests were voided, declined for prosecution, or
dismissed.” Id. 11 164-65, 168.) With respect to the historical references to previously settled
lawsuits, Plaintiff does not allege any facts tinat lawsuits involvedanstitutional abuses or
that any abuses were caused by a failuteaio officers in the proper handling of First
Amendment activity. See idff 164-65.) Moreover, the mdeet that a case settled is not
probative of liabilityunless there was a conse&s of liability. Marom |, 2016 WL 916424, at
*22 (dismissing failure to train claim based on simddegations where plaintiff failed to allege
that any of the referenced lawsuits resulted in findings of liabiktshuckle v. City of N.YNo.
14 Civ. 10248 (ER), 2016 WL 5793741, at *17 (S.DXNSept. 30, 2016) (same). Similarly,
Plaintiff's conclusion regarding the “exceptidigehigh rate” at whith OWS arrests were
“voided, declined for prosecution, or dismidsdoes not (1) describe anything about the
underlying arrests, (2) identify any constituta violations, or (3) connect purported
constitutional violations to thstated failure to train.SéeAm. Compl.| 168.) Accordingly,
Defendants’ motion to dimiss Plaintiff's firstMonell claim is granted See Marom, 12016 WL
916424, at *22 (allegations regarding the 2004RMotests and other Section 1983 lawsuits
insufficient to support a failure to train on thgdéduty to avoid violang a citizen’s rights,

namely by using excessive force and making fatsetaliatory arrests during mass protests);
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Pluma v. City of N.YNo. 13 Civ.2017(LAP), 2015 WL 1623828, at *12 (S.D.N.Y. Mar. 31,
2015) (allegations of a “handfaf dissimilar incidents occurringver the course of more than a
decade is too sparse to put the City on notiaettie NYPD’s training program produces officers
who are likely to commit constitutional violatis through their deployment of pepper spray”).

2. Tracking and Monitoring of First Amendment Groups

Plaintiff's second policy in support of municlgebility is that the City allegedly has a
policy of tracking, monitoring, surveilling, andp@rting on groups and associated individuals
participating in First Amendment activities, amsing the information gathered to chill First
Amendment expression. (Am. Compl. 1 150, 172-28%a)ntiff specificdly claims that the
“unlawful” tracking of OWS was a policy fistituted, devised, and overseen” by Defendants
Bloomberg and Kelly, “acting through the N®Rntelligence Division & Counter-Terrorism
Bureau,” and in contravention of the Departmefiitiomeland Security’s policies and limitations
regarding OWS political speech and othawsillance of First Amendment groupdd.(TY 220-
42.) Plaintiff also claims that the NYPDass"inappropriate and ualful” investigation
techniques in furtherance of this policygluding the use of itifrators and cell phone
interceptors. I¢l. 1 150.)

Despite his detailed allegations, Ptdfrdoes not allege any facts supporting the
inference that the NYPD engaged in these actiodgter political speech or lawful protest.
Indeed, many of Plaintiff's alleged facts are iigtal citations to NYPD investigative policies
with respect to other political groupdd.(11 172-88.) With regartd OWS activities in
particular, Plaintiff alleges that (1) a nuertof undercover infiltrators joined the OWS
movement, with at least one diose infiltrators even encouraging protesters to break the law,

(id. 1191 177, 198, 200-19); and (2) the NYPD collectath on OWS, including by receiving
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intelligence reports and reviewing photographsssbaiated individuals, to the effect of officers
inexplicably knowing individual’s namesd( 1 189-96, 199). Plaintifilso alleges specific
facts supporting a plausible inference of saype of unlawful conduct, namely, the undercover
infiltration of a provocative officer in the O8/movement, and a senior FBI agent’s general
statement as to purportedly uncongtttnal activities by the NYPD.Id. 11 177, 202-17, 239.)
However, Plaintiff does not allege any faeupporting the inference that the NYPD'’s
intelligence gathering was to deter the speech oéptets or that the surveillance was part of a
widespread policy of surveilig First Amendment groups in vatlon of their constitutional
rights. See Pluma2015 WL 1623828, at *9 (noting that thintiff pointed to no specific

policy authorizing the alleged tactics and thatrtiagority of examples cited did not involve such
tactics, and thereby holding thae plaintiff did not allege Bonell claim).

In any event, even if | were to find that swcholicy existed, Plaintiff has not pled facts
supporting the required “causal link” between thegatepolicy and his arrests. With respect to
his October 15 arrest, Plaintiff spulates that because of thigriing” of the arrest and his
“leadership” in OWS, the second policy must haeen a “motivating factor.” (Am. Compl.
263.) In connection with his October 26 arresajiiff appears to allegenly that because he
was arrested numerous times and others engadkd same conduct were not arrested, he must
have been the target of police enforeatngiven his position as a leadege¢ idf 264.)

Plaintiff makes similar claims with respecthis November 8 and November 27 arres&ee(id.
19 265—-66.) These allegations, without more, isbsily of conjecture and do not support a
causal link sufficient to statecéaim for municipal liability. See Brown520 U.S. at 404 (“[A]
plaintiff must show that the municipal actionsmaken with the requisite degree of culpability

and must demonstrate a direausal link between the municiadtion and the deprivation of
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federal rights.”).

As a result, Defendants’ motiaa dismiss Plaintiff's seconillonell claim is granted.

3. Random Arreststo Deter Protests

Finally, Plaintiff alleges a “policy and practicé arresting individualselected at random
from within groups engaging in peaceful protést,the purpose of frightening and deterring the
arrested individual and the remainder of thps®esting.” (Am. Compl. § 150.) Plaintiff's
support, which consists only of journadiseporting apparently random arresis, {{ 250-59),
is not enough to state a claim untonell. See Marom,12016 WL 916424, at *22 (“Neither a
newspaper report nor an academic paper reportimgeadents that ought to be investigated is a
showing of anything entitled @ presumption of truth.”).

As a result, Defendants’ motida dismiss Plaintiff's thirdVlonell claim is also granted,
and the Municipal Defendants are dismissed.

V. Conclusion

For the foregoing reasons, Defendants’ motio dismiss is GRANTED IN PART and
DENIED IN PART.

Specifically, Defendants’ motion to dismissGRANTED with respect to all Claims for
Relief against Defendants Blanco, Vernelly, Caahdgeres, Bloomberg, Kelly, and the City of
New York. In addition, Defendants’ motion desmiss is GRANTED with respect to: (1)
Plaintiff's First Claim for Relief for abuse @irocess as to Defendants Waring, McNamara,
Curley, Grodnick, Manning, Winski, and Wror (the “Remaining Dfendants”); and (2)
Plaintiff's Sixth Claim for Relief for maliciouprosecution as to the Remaining Defendants with
respect to the October 15, NovemBeand November 27 charges.

Defendants’ motion to dismiss is DENIEDtwrespect to: (1) Plaintiff's Second Claim
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for Relief for false arrest as to the Remaining Defendants with respect only to those arrests in
which Plaintiff alleged their pgonal involvement; (2) Plairftis Third Claim for Relief for

failure to intervene as to Defendant Winski; RRintiff's Fourth Claimfor Relief for denial of

his fair trial rights as to thRemaining Defendants with respectly to those arrests and charges
in which Plaintiff alleged their personal invelment; (4) Plaintiff's Fifth Claim for Relief for

First Amendment retaliation as to the Remairigfendants; and (5) Ptaiff’'s Sixth Claim for
Relief for malicious prosecution as to Defendaaring and McNamara with respect to the
October 26, 2011 arrest and chardée Clerk of Court is respectfy directed to terminate the
open motion at Document 22.

The parties are directed to meet and cowidr regard to a Cagdanagement Plan and
Scheduling Order related to dis@wy concerning the claims that have survived, and jointly file
that plan and order on or before April 6, 20¥8template for the order is available at
http://nysd.uscourts.gdudge/Broderick.

SO ORDERED.

Dated: March 22, 2018
New York, New York

Vernon S. Broderick
United States District Judge
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